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e’ 50 Cent™

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERM DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CURTIS JAMES JACKSON, 1,
P/K/A "50 CENT,”

Plaintiff, [

et 1

VE.
TACO BELL CORP.,
Defendant. : R
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Plaintiff Curtis Janes Jackson, 111, p/k/a “50 Cent™ (“PlaintifT” ar "Jui:m*"&r_-*ﬁﬁ_-’; J
Cent™), by his attoreys Reed Smith LLP, for his Complaint against deferdant Taco Béll Corp. -
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(“Defendant™ or *Taco Bell™), alleges as follows: =

NATURE OF ACTION

1. Plaintiff Jeckson, an enormously popular and successful hip-hop music artist and
owner of the federally-registercd 50 CENT trademarks (as defined below), brings this action to
obtain injunctive relicf and recover monetary damages for trademack infringement, wnfair
competition and violatdon of his nghis of privacy and publicity 25 a result of Taco Bell's
unauthorized use of plaintiff's name and federally-registered trademarks in its recent hip-hop
therned advertising carpaign.
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2 Without sesking or obtaining Jackson's authorization, Defendant Taco Bell made
him the star and focus of its nation-wide advertising campaign by using his nare, persona, and
tradernarks to promote Taco Bell's bosiness and products.

3, Taco Bell drafied a faox “letter” (sctually, an advertisement) purpartedly
addressed 1o Jackson, which asked him to change his name for one day from =50 Cent” 1o “79
Cenl,” “89 Cent,” or “99 Cent” in order to publicize Taco Bell's so-called “70-80-90 Cont Wh

Pay More Value Menu,” which offers various tacos and other produets for those prices.

4, In fact, aftexr Taco Bell draficd that “letter,” it did not send it 1o Jackson. Instead,
Taco Bell released it to the national press. (iven Jackson's enormous populerity, the press ran
with the stery, thus generating millions of dollars in free publicity for the “79-89-99 Cent Why
Pay More Ad Campaign®——which, of course, was the whole idea, Afier the media had apread
the story throughout the United States, Tazo Bell finally got around to sending the “letter™ to
Jackson.

5. The “letter” was nothing mome than a print ad highlighting Jackson's name,
persona, and trademarks to promote Taco Bell's new hip-hop-based ad campaign. For example,
Taco Bell’s website offered a “Rap Name Creator,” which permitted users to enter their name,
pender, and other characteristies and see what their “Rap Mame™ would be. The website also
offered a “Why Pay Mo® Rhyme Generator,™ which played hip-hop music and displaved a
montage of hip-hop-themed scenes.

& Thus, without suthorization, Tace Bell traded on the name of the world's bigpest
hip-hop star 1o draw attention to its new, hip-hop based adventising campaign, and thereby

generated massive publicity for 115 business, In “gucrilla sdvertising™ fashion, Taco Bell stole
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(rather than paid for) the endorsernent of mega-celebrity Jackson, and then disseminsted it for
free through the press (rather than paying for adverising time). However, Taco Bell vislated
federal and state law when it raded on Jackson's neme, persona, and federnlly-registered
trademarks without any authorization.

7. As Taco Bell intended, many consumers belfeved that 50 Cent had agreed to
endorse Teco Bell's products. Indeed, postings on sumerous Intemet “blogs"” castigated 50 Cent
fiar “salling o™ by his eppareni endorsement of Taco Bl

8 Simply pot, Taco Bell knew that it would likely have had 1o pay Jackson a multi-
million dollar fee to get his endorssment, even if he had agreed o do it {which is in doubt),
Rather than face rejection or pay fidr value, Taco Bell chose to steal his endorserment and 1o
enjoy all the publicity of being associsted with a mega-star while bearing none of the costs,
Jackson brings this ection to force Taco Bell to pay for diluting the value of his good name and
to recover the fair value of his stolen endorsement,

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9 Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuzntto 15 US.C E 1121 and 28 US.C.
4% 1331, 1332, 1338{s) ard 1367, because the action involves claims erising under the Lanha
Act gnd trademark laws of the United States and related stste claims for trademark infringsmert
and unfair competition, as well as for unauthorized use of pluintifPs name and 1Mkeness, and
because the amount in controversy exceeds 575,000 (mxclhusive of interest and costs) and is
between cilizens of different states.

10, Venwe is propes in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (2) because a

substaniial part of the events or omissions which give rise to the elaims hereln oocumred in this



District and because Defendant is subject to personal jurisdietion in this District based upen its
highly-interactive Internet website and its substantial business contacts in this District,
PARTIES

11, Plaintiff Curtis James Jackson, 11, p'k/a 50 Cent, is a citizen and resident of the
State of Connecticut and has his business offices in New York, New York.

12, Defendant Taco Bell Corp. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of
business in Beverly Hills, California. Taco Bell Corp. docs business in this District through its
day-to-day operations and through its highly-interactive website,

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Jackson's Creation, Use and Fromotion of Hizs Valuable
i tlonal P na and 5 [ Hemark

13. 50 Cent is a hip-hop artist known for his good looks, hard-knocks success stery,
atd imumense musical talent, released hig chan-lopping debut album, Ger Rich or Die Tryin’, in
February 2003. The debul album went platinum many times over, and a superstar was born. A1
told, Jackson's three albums released fo-date have all sold more than 25 million copies. He s,
simply put, on¢ of the most recognized and admired musteal artists in the world,

14,  Jackzon has leveraped his musical suecess into a sucesssful record label (G-Unit
Records), & clothing line (G-Unit Clothing Compeany), and several other lucrative ventures, and
has built and guided the “50 Cent™ brand 10 ameng the most recoprized and valuable in the
cotertainment world.

15.  Jackson has also donsted over ene millien dollars through his charitable
foundation, The G-Urity Foundation, Inc., which provides grants 1o nenprofit organizations that

focus on improving the quality of life for low-income and underserved communities.



16. Ja:hmi:lh:umuf:ummgnlawﬁghhmdfﬂhrﬂmﬂimﬁuminunumhm
of federally registered trademarks and serviee marks somprising the term 50 CENT, including:

Mark itrat;

30 CENT 2,807 302 Electrical apparatus, January 20, 2004
namealy, pre-recorded
phonograph records,
compact discs, audio
and video cassoties,
and DVDs featuring
musie,

Clothing, namely,

hats, T-ghirts, jackets,

£hirts, sweatshirts and
BJ 'ﬂiﬂ-

jerseys
in the nature of live

performances by a
musical artist,

SOCENT & 3,015,725 Sound and video November 15, 2005
Design ) recordings featiring
s,

50 CENT & 3,015,726 Printed matter namnely  Novernber 15, 2005
Design posters, ?ﬁlrdm
Phctographs, pressure
sensitive stickers.
SOCENT & 3,015,727 Clathing, namely, November 15, 2005
mops, wmhiru,
Sweatpants, jackets;
headgear, namely,
hats, visors, knit caps,
headbands, bandanas,
beanie caps; footweear,
S0 CENT & 3.102,330 Entertalnment, June &, 2006
Deesign namely, live

afe



SO CENT &

S0 CENT &
Design

50 CENT &
Design

30 CENT &
Deesign

TIS05.822

T7/505,829

TRAI1T,151

T8/650,678

Serviees

performances by a
musieal setist.

Jewelry; wristwatches:

bracelets; necklaces
and medallions,

-

backpacks; “u!m
umbrellas.

rmh'r sports

travel bags,
backpacks, wallets,
umbrellas,

Jewelry; wristwatches;
woiches; rlnm,
cis; necklaces
and muilmum

namdg non-fiction
huﬂhmlh:ﬁl:lduf

Filed on June 23, 2008

Filed on June 23, 2008

Filed on October 22,
2003

Filed on August 11,
Dos

The registrations are valid and subsisting, unrevoked, and uncancalled. Copies of Certificates of
Registration for the registeced marks and United States Patent and Trademark Office records

relating to the pendimg applications listed above are annexed hereto as Exhibit A. These ning

marks are collectively referred to herein as the “50 CENT Marks.”

17.

As o result of Jackson's long and continuaus use, the 50 CENT Marks have

individunlly and eollectively come to identify Jeckson's goods and serviees and distinguish them



from thase of others, and have come o represent and symbolize substantial goodwill belonging
exclusively to Jackson.

18,  Over the many years that Jackson has used the 50 CENT Marks, Jackson kas
expended substantial sums in advertising and prometing kis services under the 50 CENT Marks.
Such advertising has included Internet, television, radie, priot advertising and live appearances.
As aresult of his substantial promotional investments, Jackson bas developed an enommously
valuable interest in his name, likeness, persona and the 50 CENT Marks through substantial
investment of time, effort and money.

19.  PlaintiT is commenly known and referred to professionally not only as “50 Cem™
but also more informally as “30™ or “Fiddy.”

20,  Asaresult of bis popularity and renown, Jackson has established a firsi-class
brand with the critical Generation X and Generation Y demographics, for which advertisers are
willing to pay substantial premiums. Jackson regularly receives financially lucrative offers
license use of his name, likeness and trademarks 1o promote a wide variety of products,
However, Jackson has assiduously protected the 50 Cent “brand,” To prevent any dimipution of
the public’s pesception of him, Jackson has limited his epdorserment activities to products of the
highest quality and has demanded that any cndorsement deals permit him to maintain strict
control over the manner in which his name, likeness and wrademarks are used.

21.  Asaresult, when Jackzon does agree 1o endorse a product or service, his
endorsement commends the atiention of the marketplace, partdeularly among the all-important
teen and young adult demographic. Accordingly, Jackson is highly-compensaied when he does

choose to endorse 4 product.
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22 Jackson has tumned away millions of dollars in endorsement offers that he desrmed
unworthy of his pame. He is extremely cognizant of the public’s perception of him and the 50
Cent “brand,” and has often forgone endorsement deals which he felt might compramise the
integrity of his brand,

23, OnJune 16, 2008, Defendant Taco Bell used Jackson's professional name,

likeness and trade name without authorization to sell its own products through its “79-89-99
Why Pay More Value Menu” (the “79-89-99 Cent Ad Campaign™).

24, On that date, Defendant released 1w the press a purported "letter™ to Jacksan
which was, in reality, nothing more than a ransparent commercial advertiserment for Taco Bell s
79-89-99 Cent Ad Campaign.

25.  The “letter"—which had pever been sent 1o Jackson prier to its wide dissribution
mﬁawm—wpwpmmdlyuﬂmwndm“mdrqmjﬁﬂﬂlﬂm‘lm
persona, end registered trademarks to Taco Ball's 79-89.99 Cem Ad Campaign. A copy of the
“letter” 15 annexed hereto as Exhibit B,

26, The letter's content confirms that it was purely a commercial advertisement.
Indeed, jt reads like a poorly-written volce-over for one of Taco Bell's television commercials:

Diear Mz, Jackson,

We know thet you adopted the name 50 Cont years agoas 2
metaphor for changs. We at Taco Bell are also huge
advocates for change. In fact, for just a few spare coins,
we're giving customers more variety for less money with
our new T9-89.-99 Why Pay more value menu, Where else
can you gt 8 Cheesy Double Beef Burrito for only $.897
So here's our offer of change to you: For one day this

summer, change your name to either 79 Cent, 89 Cent or 99
Cent by showing up 1o one of our more than 5,600



locations nationwide and rapping your order in the drive
thrn with your new moniker.

We'll serve the guests of the chosen location with pleaty of
free Why Pay More menu items. And we'll reward more
than just customers—we'll also make a $10,000
contribution to a charity of your choice that they can take
“Straight to the Bank.”
Inspiration for your rap can be found at

www.tacobell. com/valuemenu with our “Why Pay Mo
Rhyme Generator.,”  Just upload your picture and watch
change happen. We cncourage you to “Think Ourside the
Bun" and hope you aceept our offer.

Sincerely,

fsd

Greg Creed

President

Taco Bell Corp.

27.  Thus, without ever sending Jackson this “letter,” Taco Bell disseminated
advertising throughowut the world which employed Jackson's name, persona, and registersd
tademarks to trumpet its owm 72-82-28 Cent Ad Campaign, its website, and its “Think Outside-
the Bun" slogan.

28.  The “letter™ and its Wide release to the media were clearly intended to generate
maximum exposure for Taco Bell's 79-89-99 Cent Ad Campaign, and o falsely imply to
consumers that Jackson is affilisted with or bas endorsed or approved Taco Bell's low-cnd, fas -
food restaurant business. Morsover, as Defendant undoubtedly hoped and planped, the letter was
reported on by hundreds of websites, blogs and other outlets beyvond thoss media outlets that
received the initial release.

28, The mere mention of Jackson's name and 50 Cenl persona resulted in the press

having a field day with the “letter. ™ Delendant gat back and let the media whirlwind swirl foru



few days and then, on or about June 18, 2008, Gnally dispalched the “letter™ to Jackson himself
Obviously, at that point it no longer matiered whether Jackson responded to the faux “offer”:
Taco Bell had achisved the result it wanted all along: It penerated maximam free publicity by
associating the 79-89-99 Ceni Ad Campaign with Jackson's name and trademarks, wilhout
paying Jackson a dime.

30.  The dissemination of the Press Release as part of the 79-89-99 Cent Ad Campaiymn
has caused, and will continue to cause, significart harm to Jackson,

31. Defendant’s actions have also caused confusion in the marketplace among
consumers and potential endorsement panners of Jackson, all of whom are Hkely to believe tha
the 79-89-99 Cent Ad Campaign and Taco Bell are endorsed and sponsored by Jackson.

32,  There has already been rampant consumer confusion, including commurications
on lnternet blogs and elsewhere in which consumers have criticized Jackson for “selling owt™ by
endorsing Taco Bell.

33,  Defendart has also caused damage to Jackson's valuable reputation as a hip-hoy
superstar by associating him with the pedestrian rap [yrics and hip-hop themed games containe|
on the www. tacobell.com website, thus diluting the commercial value of Mr. Jackson's name
and trademarks.

34,  Taco Bell's actions have also jeopardized Jackson's furare ability to profit from
endorsing products he consents to endorse. Defendant's publicity stunt not only “stole™ a mult -
million dollar endorsement, but it also cheapened Jackson's brand, thus making his cndorsement

worth less to potential merchandising partners.
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T CL
(Lanham Act Trademark Infringement, 15 U.S.C. § 1114)

35, Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs | throupgh 34 of this Complaini
as if fully set forth herein.

36.  Plaintiff is the owner of federal trademadk registrations for five (5) of the 50
CENT Marks (the “Registered 50 CENT Marks™),

37. By his registration and extensive use and promnotion of the Registered 50 CENT
Marks, Jackson has established a strong assecistion in the public mind between the 50 CENT
Marks and the goods and services offered by Plaintiff,

38.  Without Plaintiff"s authorization or consent, Defendant has used the Repgistered
50 CENT Marks and/or marks that are confusingly similar to the Registered 30 CENT Marks to
endorse and promote Defendant’s owa goods and services,

39,  Defendant’s acts of offering for sale goods and services using the Registered 50
CENT Maerks have, upon information and belief, caused actual confusion, mistake and decepticn
among relsvant consumers as to endorsement and sponsorship of Defendant's goods and services
and have deceived the relevant public into believing that Defendant’s goods and services are
associated with or are otherwise eadorsed, sponsored or autherized by Plaintiff, all to the damage
and detriment of Plaintiff*s reputation, goeodwill and sales,

40.  Defendant’s unlawfil aste eonstitute irademark infringement in violation of
Section 32 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114,

41.  Defendant's acts have been willlul, deliberste and intended to benefit Defendant
ot Plaintiffs expensa.

42.  Plaimiff has suffered monetary damages as a result of defendant’s unlawful acts

in an amooot t be determined at trial.
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43,  However, Plaint(Thas no adequate remedy &t law (o compensate him fully for the
damages that have been caused by defendant’s unlawful acts and which would be caused by any
further infringement of Plaintfl's Registered 50 CENT Marks by Deferdant, unless fiture
unlawful acts and infringements of this kind are enjoined by this Court.

44,  This is an exceptional case under 15 U.S.C. § 1117.

SECOND CLAIM
(Lanham Act False Designation of Sponsorship, 15 US.C. § 1125(a))
45.  Plamtiff hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 44 of this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

46.  In connection with the advertising and promotion of its 79-89-9% Cent Ad
Campaipn, Defendant has made false or misieading descriptions of fact, or false or misleading
representations of fiact, which are bave causcd, and are cansing confusion, cuusing mistake, and
are deceiving as 1o the affiliation, connection, or association of Defendant with Plaintiff, or as to
the sponsorship or approval of Defendant's goods, services, or commercial activities by PlaintiT.

47.  Defendant's statements are material, are either literally false or, whila not literally
false, are implicitly false and are likely to mislead confuse, or deceive consumers and were made
in arder to entice consumers 10 purchase Defendants’ products.

48, Defendant's false or misleading descriptions of fact and false or misleading
representitions of fact are likely to damage Plaimtiff by making representations of fact likely o
cause confusion, migtake, and deception as to the affiliation, connection, or association of
Defendant with Plaintiff, or 25 o the sponsorship or approval of Defendant's goods, services, cr
commercial activities by Plainifl.

-12-



49. By reason of the foregoing, Defandant has violated and is continuing to violate
Section 43(a)(1}(A) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125021 A

50.  Upon informasdon and belief, Defendant’s condust is willfil and daliberate and
done with the intent to unfairly commercially benefit from its false statements at Jackson's

expense.

5. Defendant’s conduct is cansing immadiate and irreparabls injury to Plaintiff and
to the goodwill and reputation of the 50 CENT Marks, and will continue both to damage Plaintiff
and decejve the public unless enjoined by the Court.

52.  DPlaintiff has no adequate remedy a1 law,
53,  Thisis an exceptional case under 15 U.S.C. § 1117,
(Lanham Act Trldnnlﬁ Dilution, 15 U.5.C. § 1125(c))

54.  Plaintiff heroby repeats and reallepes paragranhe | through 53 of this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

35, The 50 CENT Maks are distinetive and extraordinarily Fumous and well-krows,
throughout the United States. By reason of PlaintiMT s extensive advertising and use, the 50
CENT Marks have become highly distinclive of Plaintiff and are uniquely associated with
Plaintiff.

56.  Defendam's unauthorized use of the 30 CENT Marks commenced after the 50
CENT Marks were federally registered and had become famous and distinctive.

=13=



57.  Defendant’s unauthorized use of the 50 CENT Marks is likely to dilute, does
dilute, and will continue to dilute the distinetive quality of the 50 CENT Marks by lessening thedr
capacity 1o identify and distinguish Plaintiff exclusively as the source of goods and servicss
bearing or provided under the 50 CENT Marks, and is likely to tarnish, does tarnish, and will
continue to tarnish the 30 CENT Marks by sssociating them with products and servicas of
inferior quality, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c).

38.  Defendant’s intentionsl use of marks that incorporale or are nearly identical to the
30 CENT Marks for its own commercial business purposes is intended 1o and has the effect of
trading on Plointiff s reputation and causing dilution of the 50 CENT Marks.

39.  Uponinformation and belief, Defendant's conduet is willfial and deliberate and
dane with the intent to unfairly cormmercially berefit its use of the 50 CENT Marks.

60,  Defendant's conduct is causing immediate and irreparable injury to Plaintiifl anc
the 50 CENT Marks, and will conlinue fo damage Plaistiff unless enjoined by this Court.

61.  Plaiptiff has no adaquate remedy an law,
62,  This is an exceptional case under 15 U.5.C. § 1117.

(New vm%u: ;L:w£ = .imu-m 51)

63,  Pladotiff hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs | through 62 of this Complain.
as if fully set forth hesein.

64.  Defendant has used Plaintiff's name within the state of New York for advertiaiz g

purposes or for the purpose of trade,



65.  Defendant’s use of Plaintifl"s name has been without the written or oral
authorization of Plaintiff or anyone autharized by him to give such suthorization.

66.  Defendant's use of Plaintiff's name constinues a violation of Section 51 of the
Civil Rights Law of the State of New York,

67.  Defendant’s use of Plaintiff"s name has caused injury to Plaimtiff i an amount o

be proven at trial.

68,  Additionally, Defendant®s use of Plaintis name in the manner described hereir
is forbidden and/or unlawful pursuamt to Section 50 of New York Civil Rights Law.

6%, Defendant has kmowingly ussd Plaintiffs pame in a manner that it knew to be
forbidden andfer unlawful parsuant to Section 50 of New York Civil Righis Law,

70.  Plaintiff therefore demands exemplary damages under Section 51 of New York
Civil Rights Law.

71, Furthermore, Section 31 of the New York Civil Rights Law provides a right to
injunciive relief to resrain the unauthorized use of a person’s name for purposes of advertising
or trade purposas within New York State.

72 Absemt injunctive relief enjoiming the continued use of his name in its advertisire
cornpaigns, Plaintiff will be irreparably damaged in a manner and to &n extent not compensable
in money damages.

73, Plantiff bas no sdeguale remedy at law against the continued use of his same in
Defendant's advertising campaigna.
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74, Plaintiff therefore demands that Defendant be enjoined and restrained pursuant 13
Section 31 of the Civil Righis Law of the State of New York from using Plaintiff"s namme for

advertizing purposes or purposes of rade.

FIFTH CLAIM
(New York General Business Laws § 360-1)
75, Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 74 of this Compleint
as il fully set forth herein.

76,  The 50 CENT Marks are distinctive and extraordinarily famous and well-knowr
througheut the United States. By reason of Plaintif"s extensive advertising and use, the 50
CENT Marks have becomne highly distinctive of Plaintiff and are uniquely associated with
Plaintiff, including by consumers in the State of New York,

T7.  Defendamt’s upnauthorized vse of the 50 CENT Marks commenced after the 50
CENT Marks were federally registered and had become fameus end distinetive in the State of

Tewr York,

78,  Defendant’s unauhorized use of the 50 CENT Marks is Likely to dilute, does
dilute, and will sontirue to dilute the distinctive quality of the 50 CENT Marks by lessening thair
capacity to identify and distinguish Plaintiff exclusively as the source of goods and services
bearing or provided under the 50 CENT Marks, and is likely to tarnish, does tamish, and will
continue to tamish the 50 CENT Marks by associating them with producis and services of
inferior quality, in violation of Mew York General Business law § 360/,



78.  Defeedant’s intentional ute of marks thal incorporate or are tearly identical to the
50 CENT Marks for jts own commercial business purposes is intendad to and has the effect of
trading on Plaintiffs reputation and cansing dilution of the 50 CENT Marks.

80.  Defendams conduct is causing immedise and irreparable injury to Plaintiff and

the 50 CENT Marks, and will continue 10 damage Plaintiff unless enjoined by this Court.
81.  Plaintff has no adequate remedy at law,

(Un Iuﬂ Enriﬂﬂunﬂ

82,  Plantiff hereby repests and realleges pamagraphs 1 theough 81 of this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

£3.  Defendant has benefited from its ualawfiul use of Plaintifi®s name because
Drefendant has derived substantial revere from the contipeed use of Plaintfi"s his name in

Defendant’s advertising carmpaigns.

84,  Ttwould be against equity and good conscience to allow Defendant 1o retain the
substantial revennes and profits it has reclized through its blatantly unlaw il use of Plaintfis

neane.
85.  Defendant has been unjustly enriched by its unlawfo! use of said name.

86.  PlaintiT lacks an adequate remedy at law,

-17-



7. Awarding Plaintff such other relief as this Court decms just, proper, and aquitable.

Dated: Mew York, New York
Fuly 23, 2008

REED SMITH LLF

B
:‘Lﬂ&. x

Wallu:e B. H-:I:I

huw York, Mew Yﬂﬂ: 10022
(212) 521- HW

Attormeys for Plaintiff Curtis James Jackson,
p'%a 50 Cent”™
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